Petitioner,

vs.

BARNETT BANK OF JACKSONVILLE, N.A., a national banking association,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF

Steven A. Werber Florida Bar # 086466 Linda Y. Kelso Florida Bar # 298662 Commander Legler Werber Dawes Sadler & Howell The Greenleaf Building P.O. Box 240 Jacksonville, FL 32201-0240 (904) 359-2000

Attorneys for Petitioner Warren Finance, Inc.

¥

a

a

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a

а

а

а

а

а

а

а

а

This is an appeal from an opinion of the First District Court of Appeals (the "DCA") overturning a summary judgment entered in favor of the Petitioner, Warren Finance, Inc. ("Warren Finance"). The trial court ruled that Warren Finance was entitled to recover from the Respondent, Barnett Bank of Jacksonville, N.A. ("Barnett"), the principal amount of \$221,443.35, which constitutes the total amount of three cashier's checks negotiated to Warren Finance on which Barnett had stopped payment (the "Cashier's Checks").

Warren Finance filed an action on October 3, 1986 in the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Duval County, Florida against Barnett, seeking recovery of the amount of the Cashier's Checks on which Barnett had stopped payment after the purchaser of the Cashier's Checks, Redan Engineering, Inc. ("Redan"), had negotiated them to Warren Finance. [R.1-7]<sup>1</sup> A Third Party Complaint was filed in the same action on February 24, 1987 by Barnett against Charles W. Grant, as Trustee (the "Trustee") for the estate of Redan, seeking recovery from the Trustee in the event that Warren Finance recovered from Barnett. [R,43-60] On March 16, 1987, the Trustee filed a Fourth Party Complaint in this action against Warren Finance which included various counts in tort and contract. [R,67-70]

-1-

<sup>1</sup> All references to the bound record on appeal are denoted with the letter "R."

The trial court on March 16, 1987 ruled on Warren Finance's Motion for Summary Judgment, ordering that Warren Finance should be compensated in the amount of the Cashier's Checks on which Barnett had stopped payment. [R.71] On appeal, the DCA reversed the Summary Final Judgment entered by the trial court in favor of Warren Finance. In a case of first impression in this state, the DCA ruled that while a bank may not countermand a cashier's check in the hands of a payee, it may properly refuse to pay a cashier's check upon the request of a payee or intervening endorsee when the check is presented for payment by an endorsee who is not a holder in due course.

On October 28, 1988, the DCA denied Warren Finance's Motion for Rehearing but certified the following question as one of great public importance:

а

"May the issuing bank assert the defenses of a payee or endorsee against the right of a subsequent endorsee to receive payment on a cashier's check?"

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In August, 1986, Blossam Contractors, Inc. ("Blossam") and T. Butler Company ("Butler"), paid Redan a total of \$221,443.35 for construction work performed by Redan for Blossam and Butler. [12/1/86 J.L. Odom 35, 36]<sup>1</sup> Redan had previously assigned to Warren Finance all of Redan's rights to receive such payments as security for the repayment of loans made by Warren Finance to

<sup>1</sup> Depositions are referred to by the deponent's last name (and initials if necessary) for purposes of citation to the record on appeal.

Redan, which loans had financed Redan's construction work for Blossam and Butler. [12/1/86 J.L. Odom 25, 26] In accordance with this assignment, Redan's president, John Odom, and its treasurer, Janet Odom, presented the Blossam and Butler checks to Warren Finance. [Warren 501

а

a

а

a

а

a

а

In order to receive immediate credit and avoid problems with Redan's recent history of bouncing checks, Warren Finance requested cashier's checks from Redan in lieu of the Blossam and Butler checks. [Warren 52, 57] The parties went together to Barnett, the bank on which the Blossam and Butler checks were drawn. [Warren 56] There was no dispute as to the validity of the Blossam and Butler checks between Barnett and Redan or between Barnett and Warren Finance. [Glaze 21] At Barnett, the Blossam and Butler checks were exchanged for three cashier's checks in the aggregate amount of \$221,443.35 made payable to Redan. [Warren 57-60] Janet Odom then endorsed the Cashier's Checks in blank and delivered them to Ellis Warren, president of Warren Finance. [Warren 61, 62]

Later the same day, a dispute arose between Redan and Warren Finance [Warren 64], and Redan asked Blossam to call Barnett and request that payment be stopped on the Cashier's Checks. [12/1/86 J.L. Odom 64; Rennhack 61 Subsequently, at Blossam's request, Barnett stopped payment on the Cashier's Checks (including the Cashier's Check that had been issued in exchange for the check drawn by Butler.) [Rennhack 13] The next

-3-

business day, Barnett issued replacement checks to Redan, without obtaining an indemnity agreement from Redan, contrary to the requirements set forth in Barnett's operating procedures manual. [Hill 21; Glaze 161

Warren Finance brought this action against Barnett on October 3, 1986, seeking to recover the amount of the Cashier's Checks. [R. 1-71 On October 17, 1986, an involuntary petition for bankruptcy was filed against Redan under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the Uniform Commercial Code, a cashier's check is not subject to countermand (except in circumstances involving fraud or other failure of consideration as to the issuing bank, which are not at issue in the instant case). Because a cashier's check is accepted by the issuing bank at the time the bank draws the check on its own funds, a check can only be countermanded prior to acceptance. By simultaneously issuing and accepting the Cashier's Checks purchased by Redan, Barnett agreed to pay Warren Finance as the holder of the Cashier's Checks when the checks were presented for payment.

The Uniform Commercial Code provisions which prevent the issuing bank from stopping payment on its own cashier's check apply regardless of whether the check is held by the payee, an endorsee or a subsequent endorsee. There is no legal basis for the DCA's creation of a judicial exception to permit the issuing

-4-

bank to stop payment on a cashier's check when negotiated by the payee to an endorsee who is not a holder in due course. The <u>only</u> authority cited by the Court was a 20 year-old decision of an Ohio <u>trial</u> court which in turn relied on pre-Code decisions. Florida's appeallate courts should not be the first and only in the U.S. to create a judicial exception under the Code for cashier's checks in the hands of endorsees.

Under the Uniform Commercial Code, the duty of a bank to pay the holder of a cashier's check does not depend on the status of the holder, whether a payee or endorsee, as a holder in due course. Because a cashier's check is accepted for payment upon issuance, the status of the holder as an endorsee or a holder in due course is irrelevant. Accordingly, regardless of whether it was a holder or a holder in due course, Warren Finance had the the Cashier's right receive payment of Checks to upon presentation.

The rationale for the DCA's decision permitting stop payment orders with respect to endorsees as opposed to payees is cashier's check а becomes entangled in collateral that transactions once negotiated by endorsement to parties other than This rationale does not apply to Warren Finance, the payee. which specifically requested the Cashier's Checks in lieu of ordinary checks precisely because of the Uniform Commercial Code provisions making cashier's checks the functional equivalent of currency.

а

-5-

Similarly, the DCA's rationale does not apply to the general commercial usage of cashier's checks, which are frequently negotiated to endorsees as a method of providing immediacy and finality of payment. Countless business transactions are closed through the use of cashier's checks made payable to the buyer, who has a means of maintaining control over the funds represented by the check until satisfied that all aspects of the transaction have been closed to his satisfaction. Once all conditions have been fulfilled, the buyer endorses the check to the seller, who obtains immediacy and finality of payment as if he had received cash.

e

Cashier's checks are used in this manner (a) to avoid the time and expense of legal challenges to the endorsee's status as a holder in due course and (b) to avoid the risk of bankruptcy of the purchaser or endorser during the interval between the negotiation of the check and its presentation to the drawee bank for payment. The importance of cashier's checks in commerce is that the holder, regardless of whether he is **a** payee or endorsee, need not be concerned about whether the check will be dishonored when presented for payment. If the DCA's decision is upheld, this reliance on cashier's checks in the State of Florida will be effectively foreclosed, and cashier's checks negotiated to endorsees will no longer have any utility vis-a-vis ordinary checks.

-6-

Treating cashier's checks as the functional equivalent of currency will further the policy of negotiability underlying the Uniform Commercial Code. All appellate courts interpreting the Uniform Commercial Code have disallowed defenses based on the claim that the holder of a cashier's check is not a holder in due course. If the DCA's decision is upheld, Florida's appellate courts will be the only appellate courts in the nation to hold that cashier's checks are subject to countermand for reasons other than fraud the issuing bank failure upon or of consideration as to the bank itself.

The DCA has ruled that Warren Finance should suffer the loss of the value of the Cashier's Checks as a result of Barnett's negligence in failing either to obtain an indemnity from Redan or to interplead the funds claimed by both Warren Finance and Redan. To impose this loss on Warren Finance will have the effect in Florida of depriving cashier's checks in the hands of endorsees of the essential characteristics which make them useful.

For these reasons, the DCA's decision should be overturned and the summary judgment entered in favor of Warren Finance by the trial court should be reinstated.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. A BANK CANNOT STOP PAYMENT ON ITS OWN CASHIER'S CHECK BECAUSE UNDER THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE, THE ISSUANCE OF A CASHIER'S CHECK BY THE BANK CONSTITUTES ACCEPTANCE, AND A CHECK CAN ONLY BE COUNTERMANDED <u>PRIOR</u> TO ACCEPTANCE BY THE BANK.

-7-

A bank's liability on checks written on the bank is governed by Article 3 of the Uniform Commercial Code (adopted in Florida as Chapter 673, Florida Statutes). Under the Uniform Commercial Code, a bank on which a check is drawn (the drawee) is not liable on a check written or drawn on that bank until the bank "accepts" the check:

> A check or other draft does not of itself operate as an assignment of any funds in the hands of the drawee [bank] available for its payment, and the drawee is not liable on the instrument <u>until he accepts</u> it.

UCC §3-409(1), §673,409(1), Fla. Stat. (1987) (emphasis added).

Acceptance by the bank is defined in the Uniform Commercial Code as follows:

Acceptance is the drawee's [bank's] signed to honor the draft engagement as presented. It must be written on the draft and may consist of his signature alone. It operative when completed becomes bv delivery or notification.

UCC §3-410(1), §673.410(1), Fla. Stat. (1987).

а

а

а

Ordinarily, a drawee bank accepts a check in normal clearing procedures by endorsing the check with language similar to "Pay Any Bank." However, because a bank is both the drawer (maker) and the drawee of a cashier's check, the signature of the bank's officer on the cashier's check constitutes acceptance, which becomes operative when the cashier's check is delivered to the purchaser. <u>State of Pennsylvania v. Curtiss National Bank of Miami Springs, Florida</u>, 427 F.2d 395 (5th Cir. 1970) (construing

-8-

Section 673.410(1), Fla. Stat.). Thus, the bank's issuance of a cashier's check "by definition is also acceptance." Id, at 399.

The collection of items by a drawee (also called a payor bank) is governed by Article 4 of the Uniform Commercial Code (adopted in Florida as Chapter 674, Florida Statutes). The time by which a payor bank must receive a stop-order for such stop-order to be effective is provided for in Section 674.303, Florida Statutes, which reads as follows:

- (1)Any knowledge, notice or stop-order received by, legal process served upon or setoff exercised by a payor bank, whether or not effective under other rules of law to terminate, suspend or modify the bank's right or duty to pay an item or to charge its customer's account for the item, <u>comes too late</u> so terminate, suspend or modify to such right or duty if the knowledge, notice, stop-order or legal process is received or served and a reasonable time for the bank to act thereon the setoff expires or is exercised after the bank has done any of the following:
  - (a) <u>Accepted</u> or certified the item;

UCC §4-303(1)(a), \$674.303 (1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987) (emphasis added).

. . . . . .

6

а

Unlike an ordinary third-party check, which is drawn on the bank by a third party and is subject to being countermanded during the interval between the writing of the check by the third party and acceptance of the check by the bank, a cashier's check is drawn by the bank itself on its own funds. Because the very

-9-

act of issuance of the check constitutes acceptance by the bank, there is no interval during which the check can be subject to a stop payment order.

Thus, in <u>Curtiss</u>, <u>supra</u>, the leading case on cashier's checks decided under Florida law, the Fifth Circuit held as follows:

[T]he Bank's issuance of the check, which <u>b</u> definition <u>al</u> acce tan <u>e</u>, constituted an engagement by the Bank to honor the check as presented (<u>see</u> U.C.C. §3-410, Fla. Stat. §673.3-410) <u>extinguishing the right of the bank or</u> <u>anyone else to countermand the check</u>. See U.C.C. **S4-403**, Fla. Stat. §674.4-403 and Comment thereto.

Id. at **399** (emphasis added). The <u>Curtiss</u> court further emphasized as follows:

The cashier's check, purchased for adequate consideration, <u>unlike an ordinary check</u>, stands on its own foundation as an independent. <u>unconditional</u> and <u>primary</u> oblisation of the Bank.

Id. at 400 (citation omitted) (emphasis added). In view of this equivalence between cash and cashier's checks created by the Uniform Commercial Code, the <u>Curtiss</u> court held that the defendant bank had wrongfully refused to honor a cashier's check issued by the bank.

Similarly, in <u>In re Kimball</u>, **16** B.R. **201** (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 1981), it was held that under the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted in Florida, cash and cashier's checks are functional equivalents. The <u>Kimball</u> court considered whether a payment made

-10-

with a cashier's check, which was purchased and delivered before the ninety days preceding the filing of a bankruptcy petition but stamped "paid" by the payor bank within the ninety day preference period, constituted a voidable preference. The court found that the alleged preferential payment occurred upon delivery, stating as follows:

> Considering the nature of a cashier's check, this Court is satisfied that there is no legally siunificant difference between currency and a cashier's check, therefore, it represents payment when delivered. While at first blush it may appear that the purchaser may stop payment by directing the issuing bank not to honor the cashier's check, just as the maker may stop payment on an ordinary check, this is not the case at all. On the contrary, it is established that under Fla. Stat. §§ 673.3-413, 673.3-410, 674.4-303 (U.C.C. §§ 3-413, **4-303),** <u>a cashier's check</u> is accepted by the very act of issuance. It becomes a primary obligation of the issuing bank rather than the purchaser. and represents an absolute, irrevocable promise of the bank to honor same when Presented for collection. Neither the bank nor the purchaser have any authority to countermand the cashier's check after issuance. (Citations omitted.) Thus whether the debtor makes payment by currency or by delivery of a cashier's check to the creditor is without legal significance, and is merely a distinction without difference.

Id. at 203 (emphasis added).

8

The Uniform Commercial Code provisions cited above as enacted in other states have been uniformly construed by the courts to prevent a bank from stopping payment on its own cashier's check. In Florida and all other jurisdictions in which

-11-

Sections 3-409, 3-410 and 4-403 of the Uniform Commercial Code have been enacted, the courts have held that because the issuance of a cashier's check by definition constitutes acceptance, a cashier's check is not subject to countermand (except in the limited case, not applicable in the instant case, where the bank, whether because of fraud on the bank itself or other failure of consideration as to the bank, fails to receive consideration for the issuance of the check). <u>E,q,</u>, <u>National Newark & Essex Bank</u> v. Giordano, 111 N.J. Super. 347, 268 A.2d 327, 329 (1970) ("In drawing the instrument the bank represents that as drawee it will honor the draft when presented"); Wertz v. Richardson Heights Bank and Trust, 495 \$.W.2d 572, 574 (Tex. 1973) ("under the Code the bank's issuance of the [cashier's] check, which by definition is also acceptance, constituted an agreement by the bank to honor the check as presented"). See also, Swiss Credit Bank v. Virainia National Bank-Fairfax, 538 F.2d 587 (4th Cir. 1976) (a cashier's check is accepted in advance by the act of its issuance, and it cannot be dishonored by the issuing bank because of an indebtedness to it of one of its customers). Accord, Munson v. American National Bank and Trust Co., 484 F.2d 620 (7th Cir, 1973); Da Silva v. Sanders, 600 F. Supp. 1008 (D.D.C. 1984); Abilities, Inc. v. Citibank, N.A., 87 A.D.2d 831, 449 N.Y.S.2d 242 (N.Y. App. Div, 1982).

I)

As a matter of law from the statutes and cases cited above, Barnett had no right or duty in the instant case to

-12-

dishonor the Cashier's Checks purchased by Redan and endorsed to Warren Finance. When Barnett's officer affixed her signature to the Cashier's Checks drawn on Barnett's funds, Barnett accepted the Cashier's Checks and agreed to pay the Cashier's Checks when presented. Therefore, any stop-order presented to Barnett after the issuance and simultaneous acceptance of the Cashier's Checks arrived too late to be effective to terminate Barnett's duty to honor the Cashier's Checks when presented for payment. The Cashier's Checks stood as independent, unconditional and primary obligations of Barnett.

11. THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE PROVISIONS WHICH PREVENT THE ISSUING BANK FROM STOPPING PAYMENT ITS OWN CASHIER'S CHECK ARE ON EOUALLY APPLICABLE REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE CHECK IS HELD BY THE PAYEE, AN ENDORSEE OR A SUBSEQUENT ENDORSEE. FLORIDA SHOULD NOT BE THE SOLE STATE IN THE U.S. WHOSE APPELLATE COURTS HAVE CREATED A JUDICIAL EXCEPTION FOR CASHIER'S CHECKS HELD WHICH LEGAL ENDORSEES FOR THERE IS NO ΒY AUTHORITY UNDER THE CODE.

The Uniform Commercial Code provisions which prevent a bank from stopping payment on its own cashier's check apply a fortiori when the bank seeks to assert the defenses of a payee or endorsee against the right of a subsequent endorsee to receive payment on the check. Nevertheless, in reversing the trial court's entry of summary judgment in favor of Warren Finance, the DCA held that when circulated to subsequent endorsees, a cashier's check may be countermanded upon the payee's request if the subsequent endorsee is not a holder in due course.

-13-

a'

a

The DCA acknowledged that under the Uniform Commercial Code provisions discussed above, a cashier's check is the functional equivalent of cash in the hands of the named payee and therefore may not be countermanded (except on the basis of a fraud upon the bank itself, which is not at issue in the instant case). However, in a case of first impression in this state, the DCA created a unique judicial exception from the Uniform Commercial Code provisions equating the issuance of a cashier's check to its acceptance for situations in which a cashier's check has been negotiated by the payee to one or more subsequent endorsees and the endorsee does not qualify as a holder in due course.

Unfortunately, however, no legal analysis under the Uniform Commercial Code was offered by the DCA to explain the basis for the creation of this judicial exception. The opinion did not attempt to reconcile its decision with the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code outlined above which state that because the very act of issuance constitutes acceptance, by definition there can be no interval during which a cashier's check may be subject to a stop payment order. If the issuance of a cashier's check constitutes acceptance, thereby rendering a cashier's check equivalent to cash, how does the check suddenly lose its cash-like attributes when negotiated to an endorsee?

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