IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

WARREN FINANCE, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

vs.

BARNETT BANK OF JACKSONVILLE, N.A., a national banking association,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 73,350

CLU M

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF BARNETT BANK OF JACKSONVILLE, N.A.

MAHONEY ADAMS MILAM SURFACE & GRIMSLEY, P.A. George L. Hudspeth Robert J. Winicki David E. Otero Post Office Box 4099 Jacksonville, Florida 32201 (904) 354-1100

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT, BARNETT BANK OF JACKSONVILLE, N.A.

BLEDSOE & SCHMIDT, P.A. James A. Bledsoe, Jr. 2501 Independent Square Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-2900

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Barnett Bank may dishonor the cashier's checks presented for payment by Warren Finance which was not a holder in due course. Because Warren Finance was not a holder in due course, subsections 673.306(1)-(3) of the Florida Statutes subject Warren Finance to the defenses Barnett Bank may assert against Redan or any other holder. In addition, because Warren Finance was not a holder in due course, subsection 673.306(4) of the Florida Statutes subjects Warren Finance to the defenses Redan may assert against Warren Finance if Redan defends on Barnett Bank's behalf.

Recent cases properly apply the Uniform Commercial Code to the issue of when a bank can dishonor its cashier's check. The analysis depends upon whether the holder is a holder in due course. The First District Court of Appeal properly limited a bank's right to dishonor its cashier's checks to those situations where the holder was not a holder in due course.

A bank may dishonor a cashier's check presented by a non-holder in due course if it can establish any of the defenses under section 673.306 of the Florida Statutes that it has against payment of the check to the payee. As a non-holder in due course, Warren Finance has no greater rights to payment on the cashier's checks than did Redan. In other words, if Redan cannot require Barnett Bank to pay the checks, Warren Finance also cannot. Redan could not require payment of the

cashier's checks that are subject to this appeal because it requested the checks to be dishonored and received replacement checks. Accordingly, Warren Finance also cannot require payment.

١

Under section 673.306(4) of the Florida Statutes, Redan may assert its defenses on Barnett Bank's behalf against Warren Finance, a non-holder in due course. Barnett Bank may name Redan as a third party and then, under principles of subrogation, assert Redan's claims against Warren Finance.

Warren Finance's policy argument should be rejected. The use of cashier's checks in the business world would not be severely altered if the district court's opinion were affirmed. The opinion was confined to the very narrow subset of situations where the holder of the cashier's check is not a holder in due course.

The best policy argument for allowing a bank to dishonor a cashier's check in the hands of one who is not a holder in due course is presented by the facts involved in this case. Neither the case law of Florida, the Florida Uniform Commercial Code nor Barnett Bank should countenance or assist a holder who has perpetrated a fraud and engaged in criminal activity in obtaining a cashier's check. In addition, numerous cases have rejected the policy arguments made by Warren Finance when the party involved is not an innocent holder in due course.

Warren Finance's acceptance argument should also be rejected. An issuing bank may dishonor the cashier's check in the hands of one who is not a holder in due course, even if issuance of a cashier's check constitutes acceptance under the Uniform Commercial Code. The stop payment provisions of section 674.303 of the Florida Statutes are inapplicable to a cashier's check. In addition, final acceptance has not taken place under section 673.418 of the Florida Statutes when the cashier's check is in the hands of a non-holder in due course. Finally, acceptance of a cashier's check does not deprive a bank from asserting its defenses under section 673.306 of the Florida Statutes.

Warren Finance was not entitled to summary judgment. The First District Court of Appeal properly reversed and remanded the trial court's grant of summary judgment in Warren Finance's favor. This court should affirm the First District Court of Appeal.

I. THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE HOLDER (WARREN FINANCE) OF A CASHIER'S CHECK IS A HOLDER IN DUE COURSE OR NOT IS MATERIAL TO DETERMINING WHETHER A BANK (BARNETT BANK) MAY DISHONOR THE CHECK.

Warren Finance's brief and Judge Ervin's dissenting opinion on the denial of rehearing argue that the issue of whether the holder of a cashier's check is a holder in due course or not is immaterial to whether a bank may dishonor the check. The First District Court of Appeal's opinion, as stated previously, distinguished the right of a bank to dishonor a cashier's check based upon whether the holder was a holder in due course or not. The district court held that when the check was in the hands of a holder in due course, a bank could not dishonor a cashier's check. Barnett Bank of Jacksonville, N.A. v. Warren Finance, Inc., 532 So.2d at 680. Barnett Bank fully agrees with this position and argued in the district court that this was the proper interpretation of Florida's Uniform Commercial Code.

Barnett Bank also argued in the district court that the outcome was different when the holder of the cashier's check was not a holder in due course. Once again, the court agreed with Barnett Bank's position. Id.

Contrary to the continued assertions of Warren Finance, the First District Court of Appeal is not alone in making a distinction concerning a bank's right to dishonor a cashier's check based upon the status of the holder. Other jurisdictions have allowed a bank to dishonor (or, more imprecisely, stop

payment on) a cashier's check by asserting its own and the purchaser's defenses if the payee or subsequent holder is not a holder in due course. Recently, the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal in Crosby v. Lewis, 523 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), made this very point and cited to a number of cases in this regard. In its 1988 opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal stated:

However, some other jurisdictions also applying the U.C.C. allow a bank to stop payment on a cashiers check issued by it, by asserting the purchaser's defenses if the payee or holder is not a holder-in-due course. See, e.g., Banco Ganadero v. Agricola, S.A. Agua Prieta, Sonora, Mexico v. Society National Bank of Cleveland, 418 F.Supp. 520 (N.D. Ohio 1976); Laurel Bank & Trust Co. v. City National Bank of Connecticut, 33 Conn. Sup. 641, 365 A.2d 1222 (1976); Santos v. First National State Bank of New Jersey, 186 N. J. Super. 52, 451 A.2d 401 (A.D. 1982). Since there is no clear authority in Florida on this point, it will be one of first impression when it is ultimately presented.

Id. at 1157.

,*

The Fifth District Court of Appeal found that it need not address the issue at this time because the purchaser of the cashier's checks, instead of the issuing banks, had been sued. The bank had dishonored, at the request of the purchaser, cashier's checks totalling \$100,000. The checks had been made payable to an individual operating a Ponzi or pyramid fraud scheme. The district court found that the purchaser was not liable on the cashier's checks and any action to enforce payment would have to be against the issuing banks. At that time, "the issuing banks may have defenses, as suggested

above." Id. at Judge Cowar,, however, 1157. in his concurrence in part and dissent in part, would have held that: "While certainly a bank cannot properly dishonor its cashier's check as against a holder in due course, a bank has the right, if not a duty, to assist a customer who has purchased its cashier's check in preventing the payee of a cashier's check successfully perpetrating a fraud on the bank's customer." Id. (Cowart, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part).

Beside the cases cited by the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal in its 1988 decision in Crosby v. Lewis, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in its 1988 decision in Farmers & Merchant State Bank v. Western Bank, 841 F.2d 1433 (9th Cir. 1987), utilized an analysis identical to the one that has been advocated by Barnett Bank regarding the proper application of the Uniform Commercial Code to a cashier's check in the hands of a non-holder in due course. The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in TPO, Inc. v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 487 F.2d 131 (3d Cir. 1973), has also applied a similar analysis.

Barnett Bank will first set forth the proper statutory analysis under the Florida Uniform Commercial Code. Then Barnett Bank will discuss the relevant case law in support.

Section 673.302 of the Florida Statutes lists the prerequisites for a holder of an instrument to qualify as a

holder in due course. Section 673.302(1) provides:

- (1) A holder in due course is a holder who takes the instrument:
 - (a) For value; and

i

- (b) In good faith; and
- (c) Without notice that it is overdue or has been dishonored or of any defense against or claim to it on the part of any person.

Warren Finance has the burden of proof to establish that it meets all of the prerequisites to qualify as a holder in due course. Section 673.307(3). If Warren Finance fails to meet any one of the requirements of section 673.302(1), it is not a holder in due course.

If Warren Finance were not a holder in due course, then section 673.306 of the Florida Statutes applies. Section 673.306 lists the defenses which are available against a person who is not a holder in due course. The section provides:

Unless he has the rights of a holder in due course any person takes the instrument subject to:

- (1) All valid claims to it on the part of any person; and
- (2) All defenses of any party which would be available in an action on a simple contract; and
- (3) The defenses of want or failure of consideration, non-performance of any condition precedent, non-delivery, or delivery for a special purpose (s. 673.408); and
- (4) The defense that he or a person through whom he holds the instrument acquire it

or theft, that by payment satisfaction to such holder would inconsistent with the terms restrictive indorsement. The claim of any third person to the instrument is not otherwise available as a defense to any party liable thereon unless the third person himself defends the action for such party.

If Warren Finance was not a holder in due course, subsections 673.306(1)-(3) subject Warren Finance to the defenses Barnett Bank may assert against Redan or any other holder. In addition, if Warren Finance was not a holder in due course, subsection 673.306(4) subjects Warren Finance to the defenses Redan may assert against it if Redan defends on Barnett Bank's behalf.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in TPO and the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in Farmers & Merchant State Bank have properly analyzed how the Uniform Commercial Code applies with respect to a cashier's check in the hands of one who is not a holder in due course.

The Third Circuit stated:

We think that a correct analysis of the position of the parties here is that the Bank had engaged to pay the check but, if the plaintiff is not a holder in due course, under § 3-306 and § 3-408 [of the U.C.C.] the Bank or the FDIC is entitled to present all defenses which would be available on a simple contract including one of lack of consideration or fraud.

TPO, Inc. v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 487 F.2d at 136.

The Ninth Circuit stated:

One who lacks holder-in-due-course status takes an instrument subject to all claims and defenses enumerated in § 3-306, including "all defenses of any party which would be available in an action on a simple contract." Id. at § 3-306(b).

. . . .

[0] ne who did not qualify as a holder in due course took the instrument "subject to all defenses which could be made against the original payee if he were still the holder of it." . . We thus conclude that Western is entitled pursuant to U.C.C. § 3-306(b) to assert its defenses against OK, the payee of the cashier's check, unless F & M is a holder in due course.

Farmers & Merchant State Bank v. Western Bank, 841 F.2d at 1442.

These cases, together with the cases cited <u>infra</u> at 26-27, properly apply the Uniform Commercial Code to the issue of when a bank may dishonor its cashier's checks. The analysis depends upon whether the holder is a holder in due course or not. The First District Court of Appeal's holdings properly limited a bank's right to dishonor its cashier's checks to those situations where the holder was not a holder in due course.

11. BECAUSE WARREN FINANCE IS NOT A HOLDER IN DUE COURSE, BARNETT MAY ASSERT ITS DEFENSES OF LACK OF CONSIDERATION, RESCISSION, RELEASE, WAIVER AND ESTOPPEL.

Since this matter is before the court on review of a grant of summary judgment in favor of Warren Finance, Barnett Bank's allegations, as supported by deposition testimony, that Warren Finance was not a holder in due course and that Barnett Bank has valid defenses must be accepted for purposes of this appeal. For this reason, the First District Court of Appeal found that Barnett Bank was entitled to a trial on the merits of whether Warren Finance was a holder in due course and whether Barnett Bank's defenses are valid.

A bank may dishonor a cashier's check presented by a non-holder in due course if it can establish any of the defenses under section 673.306 of the Florida Statutes it has against payment of the instrument to the payee. See supra at 16-17. The defenses of lack of consideration, rescission, release, waiver and estoppel are defenses which may be asserted against a non-holder in due course. See Sani-Serv Division of Burger Chef Systems, Inc. v. Southern Bank of West Palm Beach, 244 So.2d 509, 511-12 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970); Locke v. Aetna Acceptance Corp., 309 So.2d 43, 44 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975).

Barnett Bank's contract in issuing the cashier's checks was with Redan and not Warren Finance. Barnett Bank refused to issue the cashier's checks directly to Warren Finance. As a non-holder in due course, Warren Finance has no greater rights

to payment of the checks han did Redan. In other words, if Redan cannot require Barnett Bank to pay the checks, Warren Finance also cannot. Redan could not require payment of the cashier's checks that are the subject of this appeal because it requested the cashier's checks to be dishonored and received replacement checks.

Recently, the Florida Third District Court of Appeal succinctly stated this principle:

First, the plaintiffs Alarcon concede on this appeal that they are not holders in due course of the check in this cause. . . This being so, the said plaintiffs stand in the shoes of the third party Salinas, to whom the said check was made out, and acquire no greater rights against the defendant Ferrari than Salinas would have had against Ferrari in collecting on the said check.

<u>Alarcon v. Ferrari</u>, 490 So.2d 1047, 1048 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Warren Finance's argument, that because it was a holder of the cashier's check and has the right to enforce payment in its own name under section 673.301 of the Florida Statutes, does not eliminate the right of Barnett Bank to assert any defenses to payment it has under section 673.306 of the Florida Statutes. Warren Finance's argument, if it were correct, would result in a non-holder in due course not being subject to defenses against a prior holder once the prior holder has parted with possession of the instrument. This is wrong. If Warren Finance is a non-holder in due course, and if Barnett Bank could not be required to pay Redan if it presented the cashier's checks, then Barnett Bank also cannot be required to

pay Warren Finance. As a non-holder in due course, Warren Finance has no greater rights than those of Redan. This is an elementary principle of the Uniform Commercial Code.

As the First District Court of Appeal has stated, "unless a holder in due course, a person takes an instrument subject to all defenses available in an action on a simple contract, as well as the defenses of want or failure of consideration, non-performance of any condition precedent, or non-delivery."

Locke v. Aetna Acceptance Corp., 309 So.2d at 44. If Redan cannot require payment of the cashier's check from Barnett Bank due to lack of consideration, rescission, release, waiver or estoppel, as a result of requesting the cashier's checks to be dishonored and receiving replacement checks, then neither can Warren Finance.

111. BECAUSE WARREN FINANCE IS NOT A HOLDER IN DUE COURSE, REDAN MAY ASSERT ITS DEFENSES ON BARNETT'S BEHALF.

The language of section 673.306(4) of the Florida Statutes is clear. It states: "The claim of any third person to the instrument is not otherwise available as a defense to any party liable thereon unless the third person defends the action for such party." Official Comment 5 to that subsection is equally clear: "Nothing in this section is intended to prevent the claimant from intervening in the holder's action against the obligor or defending the action for the latter, in asserting his claim in the course of such intervention or defense."

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